STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Horry County  
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**  
**Jun 03 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROGER D. GRATE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000472

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial judge err in allowing the state to call a witness to testify that approximately one year prior to the shooting for which Appellant stood trial, Appellant was angry at another individual with whom he was playing cards and as a result of that anger, Appellant drew his gun and pointed it at the individual where the evidence was not admissible to prove habit and it did not fall within any of the exceptions to the prohibition on character evidence?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On February 23, 2017, a Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2017-GS-26-930) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2017-GS-26-931). R. 356-357; R. 351- 360. The state, represented by Christopher D. Helms and Catherine D. Owens, called the case to trial before the Honorable Steven John and a jury on March 11-14, 2019. R. 1. Kia T. Wilson and DeShantell R. Singleton represented Appellant. At the conclusion of the presentation of evidence, Judge John instructed the jury as to murder, voluntary manslaughter, involuntary manslaughter, self-defense, and accident. R. 336, l. 18 – R. 343, l. 21. While deliberating, the jury requested to be re-instructed on murder, voluntary manslaughter, and involuntary manslaughter. R. 348, ll. 4-7; R. 350, ll. 17-21. The judge instructed them accordingly. R. 348, l. 13 – R. 351, l. 21. Ultimately, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 353, ll. 9-17. Judge John sentenced Appellant to thirty-five years imprisonment for murder and five years imprisonment for the weapon. R. 354, ll. 5-19; R. 358; R. 361. He ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. R. 354, ll. 17-19; R. 358; R. 361.

On March 18, 2019, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief of appellant follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On December 25, 2016, people gathered at Appellant's house to celebrate Christmas. R. 249, ll. 20-25. When Appellant learned that his stepson, Gregory Grate, had not given Appellant's wife, who was Gregory's biological mother, a Christmas present, Appellant walked outside to discuss the matter with Gregory. R. 222, ll. 7-8; R. 223, ll. 8-22; R. 250, ll. 3-18. The two argued, and at times, the argument was loud and heated. R. 250, ll. 15-24.

Darrell Doctor, who was Gregory's cousin, walked up to the two men to ask what was going on. R. 224, ll. 5-16; R. 251, ll. 8-14. Gregory and Appellant told Doctor that it was none of his business. R. 224, ll. 17-24; R. 251, ll. 13-14. Gregory tried to convince Doctor to leave with him, but Doctor refused. R. 225, ll. 2-10; R. 227, ll. 22-25; R. 228, ll. 7-16. Appellant repeatedly told Doctor to leave, but Doctor refused. R. 251, ll. 14. When Doctor turned toward Appellant, placed his hand in his pocket, and began walking aggressively toward Appellant, Appellant shot him once. R. 228, ll. 1-25; R. 251, ll. 21; R. 252, l. 20 – R. 254, l. 14; R. 256, ll. 5-6. Appellant feared Doctor had a gun in his pocket. R. 253, l. 18 – R. 254, l. 11. Appellant did not intend to shoot Doctor; instead, he intended to shoot his gun in the air to scare Doctor. R. 255 ll. 15-25. Doctor fell to the ground and ultimately died from the gunshot wound. R. 39, ll. 19-23; R. 132, l. 23 – R. 133, l. 6; R. 136, ll. 5-8; R. 163, ll. 10-13.

Several individuals picked up Doctor and tried to put him into the car of Roger Grate, Doctor's cousin, but Roger refused to allow the individuals to place Doctor into his car. R. 191, l. 23 – R. 192, l. 4; R. 148, ll. 5-14; R. 157, ll. 8-20. Instead, a neighbor attempted to perform CPR. R. 28, ll. 20-21; R. 192, ll. 8-11. Shortly thereafter, the police arrived. R. 27, ll. 9-25; R. 256, ll. 24-25. Appellant, who had remained outside to wait for the police, told the responding officer that he had shot Doctor. R. 30, l. 18 – R. 31, l. 3; R. 35, ll. 14-18; R. 255, ll. 12-14; R. 256, ll. 15-25.

Additionally, Appellant provided the officer with his gun and his identification. R. 36, ll. 4-13 R. 257 ll. 1-9. Further, Appellant fully cooperated with police by providing them with a statement regarding what transpired before, during, and after the shooting. R. 257, l. 13 – R. 258, l. 18; State's Exhibit #43.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in allowing the state to call a witness to testify that approximately one year prior to the shooting for which Appellant stood trial, Appellant was angry at another individual with whom he was playing cards and as a result of that anger, Appellant drew his gun and pointed it at the individual where the evidence was not admissible to prove habit and it did not fall within any of the exceptions to the prohibition on character evidence.

### **Relevant facts**

The state proposed calling multiple witnesses to testify to what it characterized as Appellant's "habit" of pulling a gun whenever he was angry. The judge required the state proffer the proposed testimony.

#### *State's proffer*

Terri Doctor was the first cousin of the deceased. R. 74, ll. 10-13. Terri was also familiar with Appellant because Appellant was married to Terri's aunt. R. 74, ll. 18-20. Terri claimed she knew Appellant to carry a gun. R. 74, ll. 23-25. Terri claimed that she was at Appellant's house playing cards with a group of people whom she could no longer remember. R. 75, ll. 5-13. Terri alleged that Appellant was angry because he was losing at the card game. R. 75, ll. 15-18. Appellant and another cousin allegedly argued. R. 75, ll. 19-21. Then, according to Terri, Appellant pulled out his gun and pointed it at the cousin, telling the cousin to leave. R. 75, ll. 21-24. When the cousin left, the confrontation ended. R. 75, l. 25 – R. 76, l. 5. On cross-examination, Terri finally revealed that the cousin who argued with Appellant was Kentrez Hilton. R. 76, ll. 13-14. Terri alleged the card game occurred the year before the shooting – in October or November of 2015. R. 78, l. 20 – R. 79, l. 5.

Next, the state proffered the testimony of Veronica Doctor, another first cousin of the deceased. R. 79, l. 25 – R. 80, l. 2. Veronica alleged that ten years ago, when she was at her grandmother’s house, Appellant and one of her uncles got into an altercation. R. 81, ll. 1-3; R. 82, l. 25 – R. 83, l. 1. Veronica claimed Appellant left, but returned with a gun, which he pointed at the uncle. R. 81, ll. 3-5. When Appellant’s wife intervened, the altercation stopped. R. 81, ll. 5-7.

Finally, the state called, Romana Parker, Appellant’s neighbor. R. 83, ll. 17-20. Parker alleged that three years prior, she and Appellant exchanged words one day due to a disagreement over their dogs. R. 84, ll. 1-11; R. 84, ll. 18-21. After the argument, Parker and Appellant went into their respective homes. R. 84, ll. 11-13. Shortly thereafter, Appellant walked out of his front door with a gun. R. 84, ll. 13-17.

After proffering the evidence, the state argued the evidence was admissible as “conduct and conformity with habit.” R. 87, ll. 18-20. The “habit” the state sought to prove was that “if [Appellant] gets in an argument, he pulls a gun.” R. 87, ll. 20-21; R. 88, ll. 13-14. According to the state, Appellant acted in conformity with this habit on the night of the shooting. R. 88, ll. 13-15. Further, the state argued, the evidence countered a claim of mistake and negated self-defense. R. 88, ll. 1-8.

Defense counsel objected to the evidence, explaining the state’s proposed witnesses were not present for the shooting and could not draw any analogies between Appellant’s alleged prior conduct and his conduct related to the shooting. R. 89, ll. 1-6; R. 89, l. 11. Defense counsel explained that the state was offering impermissible character evidence. R. 89, ll. 15-16; R. 92, ll. 1-9. Further, defense counsel noted the instances offered by the state allegedly occurred ten years, three years, and one year prior to the shooting. R. 89, ll. 16-20. The prior instances were markedly

different from what the state alleged happened during the shooting as well. R.89, ll. 21-23; R. 92, ll. 15-22.

*Court's ruling*

The trial judge noted some tension between Rule 404, SCRE, which prohibits the introduction of character evidence in order to show action in conformity with that character, and Rule 406, SCRE, which allows introduction of evidence of the habit of a person to prove the conduct of that person on a particular occasion was in conformity with the habit. R. 91, ll. 5-13; R. 92, l. 25 – R. 94, l. 1. Relying upon State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 70, 543 S.E.2d 552 (2001), the judge explained he had to determine whether the incidents described the state's proposed witnesses were "so similar" and "so fact specific that would show the defendant's actions in conformity there with and then potentially to alleviate any argument about mistake." R. 94, ll. 1-7. Thereafter, the judge found the incidents described by Veronica and Parker were "not so similar occurrences or conditions that the court could find to admit them, because they don't show a substantial identity of circumstances, nor are they reasonably proximate in time." R. 94, l. 24 – R. 95, l. 4.

However, the judge determined the alleged incident described by Terri was "similar, closeness in proximity of time and similar of occurrence" to show that Appellant's response to an argument "is to pull out a gun and order somebody to leave." R. 95, ll. 5-9. The judge found "a similar act that show[ed] substantial identity of circumstances and [was] reasonably close in time and proximity." R. 95, ll. 9-11. In sum, he found the "specific nature of the incident described" by Terri" was "proper under 406, habit, routine, and practice." R. 95, ll. 12-15. Further, he found the evidence "also could be used under 404 to show the actions [*sic*] of mistake and accident." R. 95, ll. 15-18.

*State's case-in-chief*

Later, the state called Terri as a witness pursuant to the judge's ruling. Terri claimed that she had been to Appellant's house "[p]lenty of times," that she had seen him get mad, and she knew him to carry a gun. R. 123, ll. 1-10. Further, Terri claims she had seen Appellant pull a gun and point it at someone. R. 123, ll. 11-15. Thereafter, Terri told the jurors that in October or November 2015, she attended a card game at Appellant's house. R. 123, ll. 16-21. Kentrez Hilton was winning the card game. R. 124, ll. 1-2. According to Terri, Appellant was mad because he was not losing. R. 124, ll. 2-7. Terri claimed Appellant and Hilton argued, and then, Appellant alleged pulled out a gun. R. 124, ll. 9-12. Hilton then left. R. 124, ll. 12-15.

*Appellant's case-in-chief*

In his case-in-chief, Appellant called Kentrez Hilton as a witness to rebut Terri Doctor's testimony. Hilton explained that Terri was his cousin. R. 214, ll. 14-20. Hilton visited Appellant's home numerous times to "hang out and play cards." R. 215, ll. 4-7. Hilton denied ever having an argument with Appellant while at his house playing cards. R. 215, ll. 8-11. He further denied that Appellant ever pulled a gun out and pointed it at him. R. 215, ll. 12-17.

*State's closing argument*

During his closing argument, the solicitor told the jury that Appellant's testimony differed from that of a state's witness because "he's got to put some holes in this somewhere." R. 295, ll. 16-20. He emphasized "they've got to put some holes in this somewhere. They've got to muddy the waters." R. 295, ll. 23-24. According to the solicitor, it was defense counsel's "job" to muddy the waters and put holes in the state's case. R. 295, ll. 23-25. When the state replied to the defense's closing, he again told the jurors that the defense has "to muddy the waters." R. 327, ll. 13-14. He claimed the defense wanted the jurors "to be confused," and that the jury instructions

on “self-defense, involuntary manslaughter, [and] voluntary manslaughter” were to muddy the waters. R. 327, ll. 17-22.

Turning to the impermissible evidence, the state recounted that Terri Doctor “said she [had] seen him pull a gun on somebody before.” R. 298, ll. 17-18. Thereafter, the state argued Terri’s version “either happened or it didn’t. It can’t be both ways. Either Mr. Hilton is lying or Terri is lying.” R. 298, ll. 18-20. After explaining that the state “contend[ed] it happened,” the state asked why Hilton would lie. R. 298, l. 22. With no evidence to support his contention, the state told the jurors that Hilton lied because he feared Appellant: “He’s proven that he’s willing to shoot somebody. We know he is; that’s undisputed. Why would Mr. Hilton lie? Because he’s afraid of him, and rightfully so.” R. 298, ll. 22-25. Later, the state returned to this theme. R. 302, ll. 3-7.

#### *Jury instructions*

The judge instructed the jurors on “[e]vidence of a prior bad act.” R. 334, l. 20. In sum, the judge told the jurors as follows:

If you conclude it was true, it may only be considered by you on the question of credibility and believe ability and for no other purpose. You may give this evidence, if you have found it to be true, the weight and value, if any, you find it should have, only on the issue of credibility. You must not, you may not consider evidence of any prior bad act as proof of the defendant’s guilt of the crime for which he is charged today.

R. 334, l. 20 – R. 335, l. 2.

#### **Discussion**

The trial judge erred in permitting the state to present evidence of an alleged prior incident where Appellant was angry with a fellow card player, argued with the fellow card player, and drew his weapon on the fellow card player. The evidence was inadmissible character evidence because it did not fit within any of the exceptions. Further, the judge’s admission of the evidence pursuant to Rule 406, SCRE, as evidence of the habit of a person too broadly construed the Rule.

### *Character evidence*

Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion. Rule 404(a), SCRE. In essence, evidence of other bad acts is not admissible to prove a person's guilt; however, such evidence may be admissible to show motive, identity, existence of a common scheme or plan, absence of mistake or accident, or intent. Rule 404(b), SCRE; see also State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). In addition, evidence of prior bad acts not subject to a conviction must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001).

As explained by the Supreme Court, the process of analyzing bad act evidence starts with Rule 401, SCRE. State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 433, 683 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2009). Thus, the first step is determining whether the evidence is relevant. Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Rule 401, SCRE. Generally, "[a]ll relevant evidence is admissible." Rule 402, SCRE. "Evidence which assists a jury at arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and admissible unless otherwise incompetent." State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986) (citing Toole v. Salter, 249 S.C. 354, 361, 154 S.E.2d 434, 437 (1967)). "Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears, and it is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact proved." State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004).

According to this Court, "evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy." State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 337, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct. App. 2008). Stated another way, "[e]vidence is relevant if it tends to

establish or to make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears.” Schmidt, 288 S.C. at 303, 342 S.E.2d at 403.

In Lyles, supra, this Court explained the analysis for determining the relevancy and admissibility of evidence. The state made a motion *in limine* to exclude any comments regarding drug use or the existence of drugs at the alleged victim’s apartment. Lyles, 379 S.C. at 335, 665 S.E.2d at 205. Following a proffer, “[t]he state objected and the trial judge conducted an inquiry to determine the relevance of the testimony.” Id. at 336, 665 S.E.2d at 205. Thereafter, the judge excluded the testimony finding it was not ““relevant in any fashion in this case.”” Id. According to this Court, “the testimony [did] not serve as a defense to any of the offenses charged in this case nor [did] it excuse or mitigate [the defendants’] actions. It was not probative of any issue material to reaching a verdict. This absence of a logical connection to the facts in debate ma[de] the evidence irrelevant and inadmissible.” Id.

The South Carolina Supreme Court held the introduction of evidence of a vendetta to establish motive, bias, and prejudice on the part of the alleged victim and her family by a criminal defendant “was clearly relevant and should have been admitted.” Schmidt, 288 S.C. at 303, 342 S.E.2d at 403. The defendant’s “entire defense at trial was that he did not commit the alleged act and that the child’s story was concocted by her parents because of a ‘vendetta’ against him.” Id. at 303-304, 342 S.E.2d at 403. The Court held “the trial court’s ruling on the motion to limit the testimony and its refusal to allow [the defendant]’s proffer of testimony effectively denied [the defendant] a fair and impartial trial because he was not allowed to present his defense.” Id. at 304, 342 S.E.2d at 403.

The Supreme Court dealt with multiple pieces of erroneously admitted irrelevant evidence in State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001). The deceased, Joseph Barefoot, disappeared

on May 25, 1997. Id. at 119, 551 S.E.2d at 243. Barefoot's body was found on September 16, 1997. Id. at 120, 551 S.E.2d at 243. Three of Saltz's friends provided statements implicating Saltz in Barefoot's death. Id. Appellant gave "seven consecutive statements" that were "highly contradictory" and one of which was "factually improbable." Id. at 120, 551 S.E.2d at 243-244.

The Court held the trial judge erred in admitting Saltz's attendance record showing he was absent from school on May 29, 1997. Id. at 127-128, 551 S.E.2d at 247-248. According to the Court, the fact Saltz "was absent from school on Thursday, May 29, 1997, did not tend to make 'the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence.'" Id. at 127, 551 S.E.2d at 247 (citing Rule 401, SCRE). The Court rejected the state's argument that the evidence showed Saltz's "whereabouts on that date were [as] unknown as" the Barefoot's. Id. at 127-128, 551 S.E.2d at 247 (alterations in original). "[T]he state presented no evidence Thursday, May 29, 1997, had any consequence to this case." Id. at 128, 551 S.E.2d at 247. Rather, "introduction of this irrelevant evidence encouraged the jury to speculate that Thursday, May 29, 1997, must be significant to the case in some way unknown to them." Id. at 128, 551 S.E.2d at 248. Also, "admission of this irrelevant evidence served to portray [Saltz] as a delinquent." Id.

This Court reversed a trial judge's decision to exclude testimony from a witness as irrelevant. State v. Page, 406 S.C. 272, 750 S.E.2d 623 (Ct. App. 2013). Page was charged with criminal sexual conduct when a woman alleged he raped her. Id. at 280, 750 S.E.2d at 627. Page wanted to call the woman's boyfriend as a witness to examine the boyfriend about a voicemail he left for the woman in which he claimed the woman told him she fabricated the allegations against Page and that the sexual encounter was consensual as it involved a trade of sex for drugs, which was what Page told the police. Id. at 281, 750 S.E.2d at 628. The state objected, arguing the

boyfriend's testimony was not relevant because he told police the voicemail was not true. Id. The judge excluded the testimony, finding "not a scintilla of relevancy" in the testimony to Page's trial. Id. at 281-282, 750 S.E.2d at 628.

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