STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jun 03 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County
The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ROGER D. GRATE,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2019-000472

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
15th Circuit Solicitor

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3131

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Now, one that I do find to be similar, closeness in proximity of time and similar of occurrence, is testimony of Terri Doctor indicating there's an argument and his response to the argument is to pull out a gun and order somebody to leave. That one is, I do find, of a similar act that shows substantial identity of circumstances and is reasonably close in time and proximity.

(R. p. 95, lines 5-11). As the trial court concluded, this testimony demonstrated a highly specific response that could not be characterized as a mere general character trait, and therefore would satisfy the specified behavior needed for habit.

State v. Brown provides an excellent roadmap for the evaluation of evidence under Rule 406 versus Rule 404, and the tension between the two rules that can exist. In Appellant's case the trial court took great care to consider the content of the proffered testimony and the basis for its admissibility, and likewise acknowledged the tension between the two rules. The trial court laid out the content of both rules, but also discussed the admissibility of "similar acts", noting that:

case law has indicated that evidence of similar acts is admissible when there is some special relationship between them that would tend to prove or disprove some fact in dispute. Evidence of similar facts, conditions, or occurrences is inadmissible if not pertinent to the issue in the case. Evidence of similar occurrences or conditions may be admitted upon a showing of substantial identity of circumstances and reasonable proximity in time. When the circumstances or conditions depicted by such evidence are so dissimilar that the evidence offered lacks substantial probative value, there arises the danger that the jury's confusion of the issues will outweigh any benefit to be derived from admitting the evidence and, in such a case, the evidence should be excluded.

(R. p. 93, lines 6-19). The trial court did not provide a citation for his discussion of the law in this regard, but his well-crafted articulation of the law was not given by chance either. It is a direct reference to the language and parenthetical citations used in *Johnson v. Sam English Grading, Inc.*, 412 S.C. 433, 451, 772 S.E.2d 544, 553 (Ct. App. 2015), as well as a myriad of other cases. See e.g. *Whaley v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 362 S.C. 456, 483, 609 S.E.2d 286, 300

(2005); *Fountain v. Fred's, Inc.*, No. 2017-000688, 2020 WL 698352, at *12 (S.C. Ct. App. Feb. 12, 2020), reh'g denied (Mar. 30, 2020).

Johnson v. Sam English Grading, Inc. discusses in more general terms the application of habit evidence and the circumstances that can render it properly admissible. The Court of Appeals in *Johnson* quoted a portion of the South Carolina Supreme Court's opinion in *Holcombe v. W.N. Watson Supply Co.*, 171 S.C. 110, 117, 171 S.E. 604, 606 (1933), which states:

The weight of authority seems to be against admitting evidence of general conduct under proven circumstances to show conduct of the same kind under similar circumstances on a particular occasion, when there were eyewitnesses of the occurrence.... Evidence of habit is frequently rejected when offered for the purpose of showing that a person acted in accordance with such habit on a particular occasion, especially where direct evidence is or can be produced, or the act is otherwise fully proved.

Id. at 553. Of critical importance, however, the court in *Johnson* also resolved that despite this common limitation, "evidence of similar accident, transactions, or happenings is admissible in South Carolina when a special relationship between them would tend to prove or disprove some fact in dispute. *Id.* at 553 (citing *Whaley v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 362 S.C. 456, 483, 609 S.E.2d 286, 300 (2005); *Reed v. Clark*, 277 S.C. 310, 314, 286 S.E.2d 384, 387 (1982); *Pittman v. Galloway*, 281 S.C. 70, 75, 313 S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct.App.1984)). The language and law relating to habit referenced in *Johnson* colored the trial court's approach to evaluating the specificity of behavior discussed in *Brown*. All of which was taken into consideration in evaluating whether the State could admit Terri Doctor's testimony as evidence of habit and evidence tending to show absence of mistake and accident. (R. p. 94, lines 1-7).

As articulated by *Johnson*, the presence of direct evidence is an important factor for considering the admissibility of habit. Testimony offered at Appellant's trial demonstrated that

Appellant participated in an argument, demanded Victim leave his property, drew his gun, and pointed his gun at Victim. Thus, there is certainly direct evidence of *the actions* in question. Nevertheless, Terri Doctor's testimony does possess a tendency to prove a disputed and immensely important fact of the case. The evidence provided by Terri Doctor goes toward answering the question of "*why*" Appellant drew his gun. As the trial court correctly identified, the State's desired evidence is both relevant and substantially probative, as it contradicts the Appellant's argument that Victim's death was the result of mistake and accident. (R. p. 94; p. 95); Rule 401, SCRE; *State v. Schmidt*, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986) (holding "[e]vidence is relevant if it tends to establish or to make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears."); *Toole v. Salter*, 249 S.C. 354, 361, 154 S.E.2d 434, 437 (1967) (holding "[a]ny evidence that assists in getting at the truth of the issue is relevant and admissible, unless because of some legal rule it is incompetent.").

Appellant argued that the only reason he drew his weapon was out of *mistake* because Victim supposedly "came at" him in an aggressive manner that Appellant claimed he interpreted as an attack. Appellant then argues that he fired with the intent of scaring victim, and only struck victim as a result of an accident. According to Appellant, Victim supposedly had his hand in his coat pocket,² but was found to be completely unarmed. Appellant's rationale is tenuous, given the testimony of other witnesses, and the evidence that Victim was walking toward his vehicle and had car keys in his pocket. (R. p. 270, lines 20 through p. 271, line 8; p. 63-64; p. 154-155). This evidence makes clear Appellant's actions that night, but the jury must also determine the Appellant's mindset and whether he killed victim out of malice or as a result of "mistake". The trial court noted the importance of the testimony to the state in this regard. As the evidence

² It was nighttime and winter at the time of the crime.

addressed a specific fact in dispute, the trial court properly found the evidence of Appellant's similar acts relevant and admissible under Rule 406 as evidence of habit.

II. Admissibility under Rule 404(b)

Appellant's arguments at trial directly relied upon two common exceptions for the admission of prior bad acts provided for under Rule 404(b); this resulted in an overlap of the two rules. At the conclusion of the trial court's discussion and ruling, Judge John stated that in addition to his admission of the evidence under Rule 406, the testimony of Terri Doctor "also could be used under 404 to show the actions [sic] of mistake or accident, which is clearly what the defendant is indicating in his statement . . ." The court's ruling in the alternative was likewise proper.

At trial, the State primarily relied upon Rule 406 for admission of the desired testimony, but Assistant Solicitor Helms also argued: "[a]dditionally, Judge, I have to negate self-defense. I think this goes to his intent in addition to negating a mistake, and I think it would be admissible under the law and if not habit". (R. p. 88, lines 1-8). The state's argument here, along with the proximity between the rules led to the trial court ruling that Terri's testimony would be also admissible to show the absence of mistake or accident under Rule 404(b). (R. p. 91, lines 5-13). As previously discussed, relevance of the evidence is established. (*Supra*). The purpose for the admission of Terri Doctor's testimony is to directly address Appellant's claim that Victim's death is the result of accident and mistake. See *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923).

Appellant also asserts that the ruling failed to consider unfair prejudice and probative value. This argument is likewise mistaken.

The trial court's full discussion and review of the law demonstrates that the court took into consideration the probative value and risk of unfair prejudice in its evaluation of the issue. Alongside its discussion for the need for substantial identity of circumstances to admit two similar acts under Rule 406 and 404, the court noted:

When the circumstances or conditions depicted by such evidence are so dissimilar that the evidence offered lacks substantial probative value, there arises the danger that the jury's confusion of the issues will outweigh any benefit to be derived from admitting the evidence and, in such case, the evidence should be excluded.

...
So, trying to reconcile 404 and 406 and what *State v. Brown* has found in 543 S.E.2d 552, 2001 case has to say about it, it's whether or not these incidents that were described by Terri Doctor, Veronica Doctor, and Romana Parker are so similar that – and so fact specific that would show the defendant's actions in conformity therewith and then potentially to alleviate any argument about mistake

...
in looking at the competing interest of 404 and 406, I do find that the specific nature of the incident described by Ms. Terri Doctor is proper under 406, habit, routine, and practice, And, also could be used under 404 to show the [absence] of mistake or accident, which is clearly what the defendant is indicating in his statement to Detective King Hemingway.

(R. p. 93, line 14 through p. 95, line 18). In so stating, the court has explicitly referenced the need for weighing the probative value against the unfair prejudice that could arise. The court then demonstrated that the probative value and prejudice is dependent upon the degree of specificity and similarity presented in the desired testimony compared to those leading up to Victim's death. The more specific and similar the comparison, the more probative that evidence is toward demonstrating the conformity with habit and the more probative that evidence is toward demonstrating an applicable exception under Rule 404(b). It is the specificity and similarity that creates the probative value and limits the unfair prejudice. It is not just speculation that the trial court properly weighed the prejudice and probative value of the proffered testimony.

It is blatantly evident given that the court declined to admit the testimony of both Victoria and Romana, which would have been equally applicable to the 404(b) exception of mistake and accident. Their exclusion is due to the lack of similarity, and therefore the lack of probative value. As such, the striking similarity between Terri Doctor's testimony and the crime itself were sufficient to establish admissibility under Rule 404(b), and there is no error in the court's ruling.

It is important to remember that *if the only purpose of the proffered testimony were to prove that Appellant commonly carried a handgun*, there would be no 404(b) exception to consider between the two rules. That's not the case here. Instead, the proffered testimony sought to demonstrate that Appellant commonly carries a handgun *and* that under certain circumstances, Appellant responds in a very specific way with his handgun. Add to this the addition of specific Rule 404(b) exceptions serving as the basis for relevancy of the testimony and you get the confluence of both rules. Moreover, Appellant's prior behavior forms part of the *res gestae* of the crime, and as such would be admissible without limiting instruction. See *State v. Johnson*, 306 S.C. 119, 127, 410 S.E.2d 547, 552 (1991); *State v. Adams*, 322 S.C. 114, 119, 470 S.E.2d 366, 369 (1996), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Giles*, 407 S.C. 14, 754 S.E.2d 261 (2014). Ultimately, since Terri's testimony was found to be admissible under both rules of evidence, the question of error by the court in this case is doubly without merit.

III. Harmless Error

In the alternative, even if the admission of Terri Doctor's testimony was in error, such error was harmless. The testimony presented by Kentrez Hilton at trial directly contradicted that of Terri Doctor, and though different in nature, the evidence presented by the State through James Grate and Naquishe Gause supports the finding of malice. Appellant has failed to

demonstrate prejudice in this case, such that jury's verdict was influenced by the alleged improper testimony of Terri Doctor. The admission of her testimony, *if erroneous*, was otherwise harmless.

Whether an error in the admission of evidence is harmless generally depends upon its materiality in relation to the case as a whole. *State v. Brown*, 344 S.C. 70, 75, 543 S.E.2d 552, 554–55 (2001) (citing *State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 391 S.E.2d 241 (1990)). “The erroneous admission of character evidence is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if its impact is minimal in the context of the entire record.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Forney*, 321 S.C. 353, 468 S.E.2d 641 (1996)). “It is settled principle that improperly admitted evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other presented evidence at trial.” *State v. Blackburn*, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978); See *State v. Braxton*, 343 S.C. 629, 541 S.E.2d 833 (2001). To warrant reversal based on wrongly admitted evidence, the complaining party must prove resulting prejudice; a showing of prejudice requires that there be a reasonable probability that the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's verdict. *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011).

First, while the testimony of Terri Doctor was admitted over defense's objection, the defense put forth the testimony of Kentrez Hilton. According to Terri, Mr. Hilton was the family member upon whom Appellant pulled and pointed his gun, and demanded he leave the card game. Mr. Hilton testified that he has played cards at Appellant's home in the past, but had never had Appellant point a gun at him. As a result, Terri's testimony was essentially nullified. Second, the testimony of Mr. James Grate demonstrated that at no time did Victim threaten or behave in such a way as to cause Appellant to draw and fire his gun. Aside from his own testimony, Appellant was unable to provide evidence to contradict James Grate's accounting of

Victim's behavior and the ensuing crime.³ Additionally, Naquishe Gause witnessed the crime from her bedroom window and accurately testified to the individuals that were present at the time of the shooting, as well as to some of the on-goings immediately following the crime. Of most importance, her testimony revealed that Victim had his hands up and was backing away from Appellant immediately before Appellant shot him. The testimony of these two witnesses provides more than sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude that Appellant killed Victim with malice aforethought, and not out of mistake and accident. See *State v. Blackburn*, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) (holding that improperly admitted evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other presented evidence at trial); See *Brown*, 344 S.C. at 75, 543 S.E.2d at 554–55. Lastly, the fact that Victim was unarmed, and that Appellant admitted he had never had any prior disputes with the Victim also weighed against the tenuous argument that Appellant was so fearful of Victim that he believed he needed to draw and fire his gun in self-defense.

Given the other evidence presented at trial, Appellant cannot demonstrate resulting prejudice from the admission of Terri Doctor's testimony. To the extent the admission of her evidence constitutes error on the part of the trial court, such error is harmless as a matter of law.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the trial court should be affirmed.

³ Gregory Grate testified about Victim's interjection into their argument and that Victim was walking in Appellant's direction, but he conceded that he was getting in his car and did not see Appellant draw his weapon or shoot Victim. (R. p. 228-229). He also demonstrated an unwillingness to assist in the investigation by refusing to provide a statement to law enforcement about the events of that night.